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Lot Ml - V. M ptran.

~  Rhonda Skillern-Jones”” Anna Eastman
Secretary, Board of Education President, Board of Education

Houston Independent School District Houston Independent School District



HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

HATTIE MAE WHITE EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT CENTER
4400 WEST 18th STREET ¢ HOUSTON, TEXAS 77092-8501

TERRY B. GRIER, Ed.D. www.houstonisd.org
Superintendent of Schools www.twitter.com/HoustonISD

November 14, 2013

Members of the Board of Education and
Citizens of the Houston Independent School District:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Houston Independent School District (the "District” or
‘HISD”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is submitted herewith. The Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report iIs management's report of financial operations to the Board of Education (the "Board"),
taxpayers, grantor agencies, employees, the Texas Education Agency, and other interested parties. The
government-wide financial statements in this report provide an overview of the District's governmental
and business-type activities, as well as its non-fiduciary blended component units. The detailed fund
financial statements describe specific activities of each fund group used in accounting for the District's
financial transactions. This report was prepared by the District's Office of Finance in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and reporting standards as promulgated by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board ("GASB").

Responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the financial statements and fairness of the
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the District. We believe that the data, as presented, is
accurate in all material respects; that information is presented in a manner designed to set forth fairly the
financial position and results of operations of the District as measured by the financial activity of its
various funds; and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum
understanding of the District's financial activities have been included.

Generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP”) require that management provide a narrative
Introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements Iin the form of
Management’'s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A"). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement
the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The Districts MD&A can be found immediately

following the report of the independent auditors.

DISTRICT PROFILE

The District was created and incorporated by an act of the Thirty-Eighth Legislature of the State of Texas
IN 1923. As an independent school district, a nine-member board of trustees elected from single-member
districts constitutes the governing body. Based on legislative authority codified in the Texas Education
Code, the trustees (1) have exclusive power and duty to govern and oversee the District; (2) can acquire
and hold real and personal property, sue and be sued, and hold all rights and titles to school property; (3)
shall have power to levy and collect taxes and to issue bonds; (4) can contract for appointed officers,
teachers, and other personnel as well as for goods and services; and (5) have the right of eminent
domain to acquire real property.

The District, with over 200,000 students and encompassing 301 square miles within greater Houston, is
the seventh-largest public school system in the nation and the largest in Texas. HISD is an ethnically
diverse district. Recent statistics indicate a student population that is approximately 62.7 percent
Hispanic, 24.6 percent African-American, 0.2 percent Native American, 3.5 percent Asian/Pacific Islander,
8.2 percent Caucasian and .8 percent of two or more races. Enrollment is projected to increase to
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211,000 students or 3% percent during the next year. This increase is primarily due to the state ordered
annexation of the North Forest Independent School District which was effective July 1, 2013.

The District has 276 instructional campuses, including 160 elementary schools, 40 middle schools, 43
high schools and 33 special campuses/alternative learning centers. A list of school buildings with year of
construction can be found in the Statistical Data Section.

As required by GAAP, the financial statements of the reporting entity include those of the District (the
primary government) and its component units in conformity with GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial
Reporting Entity.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, a financial reporting entity consists of the primary
government and its component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
elected officials of the District are financially accountable, or for which the relationship to the District is
such that exclusion would cause the District’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The
District’s blended component unit, although a legally separate entity, is in substance part of the District’s
operations, and data from this entity is combined with data of the primary government.

The criteria used to determine whether an organization is a component unit of the District includes
financial accountability of the District for the component unit, appointment of a voting majority, ability to
impose the District’'s will on the component unit, and whether there is a financial benefit or burden to the
District.

For financial reporting purposes, the Houston Independent School District Public Facility Corporation
(“Public Facility Corporation”) is included in the operations and activities of the District because of the
fiscal dependency criteria outlined in GASB Statement No. 14.

Organizational Philosophy

The core ideology of the Houston Independent School District outlines the direction of the District and the
expectation held for all employees. Our purpose defines what we are, our core values define who we are,
and our strategic intent and goals define how we intend to achieve our purpose. Simply, they are the
foundation for the District’s continued success.

Purpose
The Houston Independent School District exists to strengthen the social and economic foundation of

Houston by assuring its youth the highest quality elementary and secondary education available
anywhere.

Strategic Intent
To earn so much respect from the citizens of Houston that HISD becomes their K-12 educational system
of choice.

Core Values
o Safety Above All Else
Safety takes precedence over all else. A safe environment must be provided for every student
and employee.

vil
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e Student Learning Is the Main Thing
All decisions and actions, at any level, focus on and support “the main thing”: effective student
learning.

e Focus on Results and Excellence
Each employee focuses on results and excellence in individual and organizational efforts.

o Parents Are Partners
Parents are valued partners in the educational process, serving as the child’s teacher in the
home. All school and district activities will give proper consideration to the involvement of
parents.

e Common Decency
All members of the organization, both students and employees, deserve and must receive
respectful and courteous treatment.

¢ Human Capital
Through recruitment, retention, dismissal and professional development programs, the district will
work to make sure students are served by the top talent available, from teachers to
superintendents.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

Houston is a dynamic, world-class city. It is the fourth largest and most
diverse city in the United States. Houston is a leader in numerous
industries including manufacturing, healthcare services, engineering, and
= oil and gas. In addition to great businesses, you'll find professional

j sports, first-class museums and theatre, and an exquisite restaurant
scene. Houston is known for many things: Oil, NASA, urban sprawl and
business-friendly policies. Forbes’ July 2012 issue named the Bayou City
the Most Coolest City in America and ranked Houston No. 2 on the list of
best big cities with jobs as the city hummed through the recession and
enjoyed 2.6% job growth while nearly 50,000 Americans flocked to the
city in response. The Houston region is one of the most important
industrial bases in the world and was recently ranked No. 1 among the top U.S. manufacturing cities
(Manufacturers’ News Inc., January 2013). Additionally, in January 2013, The New York Times ranked
Houston seventh in the world and first in the United States on its list of Places to Go in 2013. In July
2013, Houston ranks No.1 on Kiplinger's top 10 best cities to live due to quality of living for singles,
professionals, families, empty-nesters and retirees. "Creative class workers - scientists, engineers,
educators, writers and artists — just gives a city a certain sizzle that adds that extra something that you
wouldn't get [elsewhere]," Kiplinger's Jane Bennett Clark said.

Employment in the Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown Metropolitan Statistical Area stood at 2,800,600 in June
2013, up 97,700 from one year earlier per the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics reporting. The same report
noted that among the 12 largest metropolitan areas in the country, Houston ranked first in the rate of job
growth and third in the number of jobs added.

viil
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Houston is no longer a one-industry city. Though energy is the dominant force in the area and oil directed
drilling has returned to normal levels, international trade, transportation, education and health care play
critical roles in the city’s economy.

International Trade

Global Trade magazine ranked Houston as the top city for global trade in the United States. The U.S.
Department of Commerce International Trade Administration ranked the Houston metropolitan area as
the top export market in the nation with $110.3 billion in exports. Houston has 94 consulates, the third
most of all cities in the nation. Houston is one of only eight cities with a regional office of the U.S. Export-
Import Bank. It has 22 foreign banks from 12 nations and 20 active international chambers of commerce
and trade associations. The Port of Houston, a 25 mile complex of private and public facilities is
consistently ranked first in US imports and handles 65% of all major break bulk post cargo in the United
States.

Transportation
The Houston Airport System (HAS) is comprised of three airports: Bush Intercontinental Airport, Hobby

Airport and Ellington Airport. HAS supports over 230,000 regional jobs and contributes over $27 billion to
the local economy. In 2012, HAS served over 50 million passengers of which 80% were served by Bush
Intercontinental Airport and 20% by Hobby Airport. The Metropolitan Transit Authority of Harris County
(METRO) operates a bus and light rail system. For the period, July 2012 to June 2013, METRO had a
weekday average ridership of 270,734.

Education and Health Services

T T T pomeepsel  According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, Houston’s education
EUCEANNIVCR B ARG S Dol and health services sector added 13,500 jobs between June 2012

and June 2013. This is an increase of 4.1% and higher than the

national increase average of 1.8%. Houston’s education and

health service sectors have shown positive employment gains

every month since February 1991.

The Texas Medical Center (TMC) represents one of Houston’s
major economic drivers and core industries with an estimated
regional annual economic impact of $14 billion. The TMC is also
one of Houston’s largest employers with 92,500 employees.

The internationally renowned, 1,300-acre TMC is the world’s
largest medical center complex with 52 member institutions,
including leading medical, academic and research institutions. Member institutions include 13 hospitals
and two specialized patient facilities, 19 renowned academic and research institutions, and 15 support
services organizations. TMC’s The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center continues to be
ranked #1 in U.S. News and World Reports’ “America’s Best Hospitals” for cancer care.

X
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Summary
Houston’s strategic location and core strengths, including an expanding energy sector, strong exports and

imports, cutting-edge medical advancements, and technology breakthroughs across industries, uniquely
position the city to play a vital role in meeting national and global market demands. At a time of
unprecedented geopolitical demographic shifts affecting markets worldwide, Houston stands as a leader
among U. S. cities of the 21st century.

Accounting Systems and Budgetary Control

The diverse nature of the District's operations and the necessity of legal compliance preclude recording
the financial transactions of the District in a single fund. The District's accounting system is organized
and operated on a "fund basis.” Each fund is a distinct, self-balancing accounting entity. The various
funds are fully described in Note 1 of the “Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.”

In developing, evaluating, and improving the District's accounting system, consideration is given to the
adequacy of the internal control structure. Internal controls are designed to provide management with
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use
or disposition and those transactions are executed in accordance with management's authorization and
recorded properly to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits
likely to be derived, and the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by
management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above-mentioned framework. We believe the District’s
internal control structure adequately safeguards assets and provides reasonable assurance of the proper
recording of financial transactions.

As a recipient of federal, state, and local grants, the District is also responsible for an adequate internal
control structure that ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to these grants. All
funded grants are subject to testing as part of the District's Single Audit as mandated by the Office of
Management and Budget (“OMB”) Circular A-133. The internal control structure is subject to periodic
reviews by management.

As a part of the District's Single Audit, tests are conducted to determine the adequacy of the internal
control structure as related to federal award programs as well as compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The major results of the District's Single Audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013,
reported no instances of material weaknesses in the internal control structure over federal awards.

The District’s financial system allows work-location supervisors access to a variety of business and
financial reports on a real-time basis. All reports show summaries and details for transactions.

The District utilizes a line-item budget of proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. The
emphasis of the budget process is to identify the activities requiring resources and to rank those activities
according to the needs of the entire District. Budgetary control is maintained at the function level by
organizational unit through the encumbrance of estimated purchase amounts and other expenditures prior
to the execution of contracts, approval of personnel transactions, or release of purchase orders to
vendors. Those obligations which would result in an overrun of appropriated funds are not released until
additional appropriations are made available.
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Capital Projects Funding

L]
201 2 The Capital Renovation Fund was created to account for the District’s capital
projects programs, including Rebuild 2002, Rebuild HISD, 2007 Facilities
H I SD Capital Program, and the new 2012 Bond Program.

BOND In November 2012, Houston voters by a margin of nearly 2 to 1 approved a
BUILDING EXCELLENCE  $1.89 billion bond referendum to replace and repair 40 schools across the
district, including 29 high schools. In addition, the bond program includes work that will benefit students
across the district such as technology upgrades, replacement of regional field houses, athletic facilities
improvements, middle school restroom renovations, and safety and security improvements. The majority
of the funding for the 2007 Facilities Capital Programis provided from the $805 million bond referendum
approved in November 2007. As of June 2013, more than 86 percent of the approved work in the 2007
bond program was committed. Among the milestones are 20 new schools and more than 180
construction and renovation projects across the District. The Public Facility Corporation (“PFC”) was
established to issue bonds to provide for the acquisition of and placement in service of two shared
educational facilities in accordance with the Public Facility Corporation Act. In May 2010, the PFC issued
bonds to fund construction of four new schools in the 2007 Facilities Capital Program. For the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2013, facilities acquisition and construction expenditures for the Capital Renovation Fund
and the PFC amounted to $211,445,988. The primary capital funding was provided through bond issues.

Long-term Financial Planning

The District is subject to a target revenue formula for school district funding. Under the target revenue
methodology, the District’'s maintenance and operations revenue from property taxes and state aid is
capped. As collections from property taxes increase, state aid is reduced by the same amount. The
District is challenged with providing salary increases and other inflationary fixed costs within a capped
budget. Therefore, the District is constantly adjusting future projections as costs in the market shift and as
changes are proposed or adopted by the Texas Legislature.

Major Initiatives

In January 2010, the Houston Independent School District Board of Education and administration worked
collaboratively to develop a community plan for transforming the District. The outcome of the six month
process was an alignment of five core initiatives to the Board’s Declaration of Beliefs and Vision to
meet the needs of the HISD’s students, parents, and the broader community. The Board identified the
following five core initiatives that have enabled the transformation of HISD.

Effective Teacher in Every Classroom

To be the best school system in the country, HISD works to ensure that every student learns from
effective teachers. This means bringing the most talented teachers to HISD, giving the teachers the
support they need to be successful, and retaining teachers who excel in the classroom. The District is
building a new HISD that helps teachers reach their full potential and meet their professional goals with
useful appraisals, individualized support, new career pathways, and smart, focused recruitment and
selection. The new HISD focuses on what matters most: ensuring that every student is learning and
growing.

xi
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Effective Principal in Every School

To ensure principals are empowered instructional leaders with clear expectations, the District focuses on
key strategies to 1) design and implement a rigorous, fair principal appraisal system; 2) create clear
standards and recommended practices to guide decision making; 3) institute stronger principal recruiting
practices; 4) implement a more robust instructional leadership development program; and 5) develop
standards and support for safe, secure, and healthy school environments.

Rigorous Instructional Standards and Supports

While the District maintains our decentralized model and continues to be a district of choice, HISD has
established a common rigorous instructional foundation across all schools with established, specific
approaches for addressing under performance so that every student has the support required to achieve
and meet the requirements for college and career success.

Data-Driven Accountability

The strategic use of data to track and monitor performance and hold leadership accountable is critical to
the District’s success.The District is investing in new and more robust technology infrastructure, systems,
and processes to address and enable HISD to use key data to inform its decisions and manage high
levels of performance districtwide.

Culture of Trust Through Action

A powerful sense of community and a shared direction among all stakeholders is crucial to the successful
transformation of HISD. Therefore, throughout the process of developing a plan of transformation, the
District moved toward a communications approach that is more interactive and transparent and better
takes advantage of new technology. In order for HISD to create a culture of trust through action, the
District fosters effective, timely, two-way internal and external communication to engage staff members,
parents and community members. The District uses meaningful engagement and increased
communication with parents and key stakeholders from the business, philanthropic, religious, and greater
community through use of public surveys, public meetings, town hall forums, televised call-in programs,
and online feedback.

Transforming HISD is a multi-year effort, and will require patience and collective vigilance to stay focused
on the issues that have the greatest potential to improve the academic performance of our students.

xii
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Independent Audit

The Texas Education Code Section 44.008 requires an annual audit of the accounts, financial records,
and transactions of the District by independent certified public accountants selected by the Board. The
District is in compliance and the independent auditors' report has been included in this report.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Perhaps no responsibility is as great as that of educating our youth, and all of our efforts lead back to the
classroom. Given that the District's academic advancements are dependent upon its fiscal successes, it is
imperative that HISD continue to improve upon its reporting proficiencies.The following text cites awards
received by the District for financial reporting excellence and the related acknowledgments in this regard.

GFOA Certificate of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (“GFOA”) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the District for its Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This was the 39th consecutive year that
the District has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
District must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report.
This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

ASBO Certificate of Excellence

The District received the Association of School Business Officials' (“ASBO”) Certificate of Excellence in
Financial Reporting for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The District has received this award for
more than 25 consecutive years. This award certifies that the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
substantially conforms to the principles and standards of financial reporting as recommended and
adopted by the ASBO.

xiil
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Education
Houston Independent School District:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Houston
Independent School District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

1 Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the District, as of June 30, 2013,
and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Net Position — Budget and Actual- General Fund, Special Revenue Fund on pages 5-16 and 65-68
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The Introductory and Statistical
Sections and the Other Supplementary Information and Individual and Combining Fund Statements
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The Other Supplementary Information and Individual and Combining Fund Statements are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Other
Supplementary Information and Individual and Combining Fund Statements are fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.



The Introductory and Statistical Section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 14, 2013 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Dileith § Tyoee, L

November 14, 2013
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Unaudited)

Our discussion and analysis of Houston Independent School District’'s (the “District”) financial performance
provides an overview of the District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. It should be
read in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the basic financial statements which
follow this section.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides information on both government-wide financial
statements and fund financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

On the government-wide financial statements, the assets of the District exceeded liabilities by $1.798 billion.
Of this amount, $707.8 million is unrestricted. Total net position of the District increased from $1.682 billion in
fiscal year 2012 to $1.798 billion in fiscal year 2013, an increase of approximately $116 million. Total revenues
decreased $89.6 million from $2.143 billion in fiscal year 2012 to $2.053 billion in fiscal year 2013.

The District's governmental funds financial statements reported a combined ending fund balance in fiscal year
2013 of $1.374 billion. Of this amount, $11 million is nonspendable in the General Fund, $233 million is set
aside for other purposes in the General Fund, and $276.8 million is unassigned in the General Fund and is
available for spending at the District’'s discretion. The combined ending fund balance of the District’s
governmental funds increased $117.6 million from $1.257 billion in fiscal year 2012. This is due to increases in
other financing sources, primarily issuance of bonds.

The District prepared a budget for the 2012-2013 fiscal year that had $39.8 million in increases and 35.5
million in decreases for a net increase to appropriations of $4.3 million. The primary increases included $18.5
million in Per Unit Allocation (PUA), $6 million for electricity, $3.3 million for property insurance, $3.1 million for
workers’ compensation, and $1 million for district technology software and hardware service and maintenance.
Some of the major decreases included $9.1 million to transfers to the debt service fund for contractual
obligations, $6 million in health insurance, $5 million for Accelerating Student Progress Increasing Results and
Expectations (ASPIRE), $4.2 million for decline in special populations, $1.7 million in unique PUA, $1.6 million
department budgets, $1.3 million in decline of special education enrollment, and $1.1 million in unemployment.

During the course of 2012-2013 other amendments were made to the District’s operating budget such as the
carryovers from 2011-2012 which included: encumbrances of $52.2 million, capital outlay funding of $38.7
million, unspent school funds of $10.2 million and a prior year Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ)
payment of $6.9 million. Other budget amendments included items such as the purchase of laptop carts for
$5.7 million, technology initiatives of $4.8 million, formative assessment of $3.3 million and an early notice
incentive of $2.5 million. All increases or decreases to the District’s budget are presented to the Board of
Education for consideration and approval throughout the year.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial statements.
The District’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the basic financial statements. This report also
contains required supplementary information and other supplementary information in addition to the basic
financial statements themselves.



Government-Wide Financial Statements

All of the District’'s services are reported in the government-wide financial statements, including instruction,
student support services, student transportation, general administration, school leadership, facilities acquisition
and construction, and food services. Property taxes, state and federal aid, and investment earnings finance
most of the activities. Additionally, all capital and debt financing activities are reported here.

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers a broad overview of the District’s
finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the District's assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the District’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities details how the District’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year.
All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in this
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and
earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the District that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from business-type activities that
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the District itself, but also a legally separate entity
for which the District is financially accountable. Financial information for this component unit is reported
separately in the fund financial statements as a nonmajor governmental fund.

Fund Financial Statements

The District uses fund accounting to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for particular
purposes. The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the District’'s most significant
funds—not the District as a whole. Funds are accounting devices that the District uses to keep track of
specific sources of funding and spending for particular purposes.

e Some funds are required by State law and by bond covenants.

e The Board of Trustees establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular purposes or
to show that it is properly using certain taxes and grants.

All of the funds of the District can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the District’s activities are included in
governmental funds, which focus on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can readily be converted to
cash flow in and out, and (2) the balances left at year end that are available. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps
determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance
the District's programs. Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the
government-wide statements, we provide additional information on the subsequent page that explains the
relationship (or differences) between them.

The District maintains five governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund
balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances for the General Fund, the Special Revenue Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the Capital Renovation
Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the Capital Renovation Fund - Public Facility
Corporation is presented as a nonmajor governmental fund on the same statements.



Proprietary funds are used to account for operations that are financed similar to those found in the private
sector. These funds provide both long- and short-term financial information. The District maintains two types
of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The District uses enterprise funds to account for its
food service, business development, and medicaid programs. The Food Service Fund is considered a major
proprietary fund. The district uses internal service funds to report activities that provide services for the
District’s other programs and activities, i.e., health insurance, workers’ compensation, print shop, and internal
services. Because these services predominately benefit governmental rather than business-type functions,
they have been included within governmental activities within the government-wide financial statements.

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a trustee capacity or as an agent for
individuals, private organizations and/or other funds. No fiduciary funds are used as clearing accounts to
distribute financial resources to other funds. The District is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in
these funds are used for their intended purposes. All of the District’s fiduciary activities are reported in a
separate statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. We exclude
these activities from the District’'s government-wide financial statements because the District cannot use these
assets to finance its operations.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Other Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements.
Immediately following the required supplementary information, combining statements are included for the
nonmajor enterprise funds, the internal service funds, and the agency funds.

The remainder of this overview section of management’s discussion and analysis explains the structure and
contents of each of the statements. Figure A-1 summarizes the major features of the District's financial
statements, including the portion of the District’'s government they cover and the types of information they
contain.

Figure A-1. Major Features of the District's Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the District’s financial position. The
District’s total net position was approximately $1.798 billion at June 30, 2013. The District's governmental
activities net position increased by $122.6 million. The District's business—type activities net position
decreased by $7 million.

Business-type

Governmental Activities Activities Total
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 Difference
Current and other assets $ 1,866,465 1,752,482 $ 62,158 $§ 65503 $ 1,928,623 $ 1,817,985 § 110,638
Capital assets 2,982,104 2,806,110 913 387 2,983,017 2,806,497 176,520
Total assets 4,848,569 4,558,592 63,071 65,890 4,911,640 4,624,482 287,158
Current liabilities 539,049 514,752 5,120 868 544,169 515,620 28,549
Long term liabilities 2,569,549 2,426,468 227 265 2,569,776 2,426,733 143,043
Total liabilities 3,108,598 2,941,220 5,347 1,133 3,113,945 2,942,353 171,592
Net position:
Net investment in capital
assets 1,017,817 849,052 833 387 1,018,650 849,439 169,211
Restricted 56,599 84,479 14,606 8,423 71,205 92,902 (21,697)
Unrestricted 665,555 683,841 42,285 55,947 707,840 739,788 (31,948)
Total net position $ 1739971 $ 1617372 $ 57,724 $ 64,757 $ 1,797,695 $ 1,682,129 §$ 115,566

Net investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, furniture, and equipment) less any related debt used to
acquire those assets that is still outstanding is $1.019 billion. The District uses these capital assets to provide
services to students; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the District’s
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the District's net position of $71.2 million represents
resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of
unrestricted net position of $707.8 million may be used to meet the District’s ongoing obligations.

Changes in net position. The District's total revenues were $2.053 billion. A significant portion,
approximately 62 percent, of the District’s revenue is from property taxes. Operating grants and contributions
provided revenue of 22 percent, 12 percent comes from state aid - formula grants, while only 1 percent relates
to charges for services. (See Figure A-2) The total cost of all programs and services was $1.938 billion.

Figure A-2 District
Sources of Revenue
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Governmental Activities

The net position of the District's governmental activities increased by $122.6 million due to increases in
property taxes, miscellaneous sources, and reduction in total expenses. The total cost of all governmental
activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 was $1.818 billion. Funding for these governmental activities
is by specific program revenue or through general revenues such as property taxes and investment earnings.
The following is a summary of the governmental activities:

e The cost of all governmental activities this year was $1.818 billion.

e Some of the governmental activities cost was funded by program revenues directly attributable to
specific activities. These program revenues amounted to $331.4 million.

e The remaining cost of governmental activities not directly funded by program revenues was $1.486
billion of which $1.267 billion was funded by property taxes and $249.6 million was funded by state aid
- not restricted to specific programs.

Business-type Activities

The net position of the District's business-type activities decreased by $7 million due to a decrease in food
service and medicaid program revenues offset by an increase in expenses for the business-type activities.
Funding for these business-type activities is by specific program revenue or through general revenues such as
investment earnings and miscellaneous sources. The following is a summary of the business-type activities:

e The cost of all business-type activities this year was $119.8 million.
e The majority of the business-type activities cost was funded by program revenues directly attributable
to specific activities. These program revenues amounted to $151.7 million.

Changes in Net Position

The total net position of the District increased by $116 million due to the following activities:

e Operating grants and contributions decreased by $74.1 million mainly due to a decrease in
Instructional Material Allotment (IMA) and the expiration of the American Recovery Reinvestment Act
(ARRA) grants.

e Property tax revenues increased $127.2 million due to an increase in the total tax levy.

e State aid not restricted to federal programs decreased by $111.4 million due to an increase in property
tax collections which has an offset to state aid as well as state-wide funding cuts.

e Miscellaneous sources decreased $27.1 million due to a decrease in the sale of capital assets and
less funding received for E-Rate.

e Instruction expenses decreased $17.2 million over prior year primarily due to IMA expenditures. The
larger share of IMA funds are received in year one of each biennium of the state’s budget, therefore
there is a decrease in the second year.

e Data processing services increased $14 million due to a multi-year district-wide initiative to improve
the District's network infrastructure. These were board approved expenditures from the District's
unassigned fund balance.



Revenues
Program Revenues
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
General Revenues
Property taxes
State aid - not restricted to specific programs
Earnings on investments
Other

Total revenues

Expenses

Instruction

Instructional resources and media services
Instructional staff development

Curriculum development

Instructional leadership

School leadership

Guidance, counseling, and evaluation services
Social work services

Health services

Student transportation

Food service

Co-curricular/extracurricular activities
General administration

Plant maintenance and operations

Security and monitoring services

Data processing services

Community services

Fiscal agent/member districts of shared services
Interest and fiscal charges

Juvenile justice alternative education program
Tax reinvestment zone payments

Tax appraisal and collection

Food service

Other

Total expenses

Change in net position before transfers
Transfers

Change in net position

Beginning net position

Ending net position

The District's Changes in Net Position

(in thousands of dollars)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 Difference
2,505 § 2515 § 22920 $§ 23738 § 25425 § 26,253 $ (828)
328,936 369,300 128,754 162,517 457,690 531,817 (74,127)
1,266,914 1,139,760 1,266,914 1,139,760 127,154
249,638 361,078 249,638 361,078 (111,440)
2,755 3,780 87 110 2,842 3,890 (1,048)
49,706 78,436 980 1,518 50,686 79,954 (29,268)
1,900,454 1,954,869 152,741 187,883 2,053,195 2,142,752 (89,557)
1,042,458 1,059,622 1,042,458 1,059,622 (17,164)
10,870 9,156 10,870 9,156 1,714
55,893 63,721 55,893 63,721 (7,828)
5,622 4,128 5,622 4,128 1,494
18,901 20,132 18,901 20,132 (1,231)
115,221 117,065 115,221 117,065 (1,844)
46,490 54,065 46,490 54,065 (7,575)
1,709 1,816 1,709 1,816 (107)
18,126 16,735 18,126 16,735 1,391
49,178 47,555 49,178 47,555 1,623
1,853 3,188 1,853 3,188 (1,335)
15,820 16,987 15,820 16,987 (1,167)
32,136 31,732 32,136 31,732 404
165,754 171,546 165,754 171,546 (5,792)
19,354 18,767 19,354 18,767 587
47,360 33,848 47,360 33,848 13,512
4117 4,998 4,117 4,998 (881)
2,405 0 2,405 0 2,405
102,760 113,713 102,760 113,713 (10,953)
844 984 844 984 (140)
51,017 52,834 51,017 52,834 (1,817)
9,927 9,776 9,927 9,776 151
106,852 105,833 106,852 105,833 1,019
12,962 12,866 12,962 12,866 96
1,817,815 1,852,368 119,814 118,699 1,937,629 1,971,067 (33,438)
82,639 102,501 32,927 69,184 115,566 171,685 (56,119)
39,960 38,700 (39,960) (38,700) -
122,599 141,201 (7,033) 30,484 115,566 171,685 (56,119)
1,617,372 1,476,171 64,757 34,273 1,682,129 1,510,444 171,685
1739971 § 1617372 § 57,724 $ 64757 $ 1797695 $ 1682129 §

10

115,566



The following table presents the cost of the District’s largest governmental functions as well as their related net
cost (total cost less fees generated by the activities and intergovernmental aid). The net cost reflects what was
funded by local tax dollars, state revenues, and other miscellaneous general revenues.

Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services
2013 2012 2013 2012
Instruction $ 1,042.5 $ 1,096 $ 8707 $ 8343
Plant maintenance &
operations $ 1658 $ 1715 §$ 1594 $ 165.2
School leadership $ 1152 $ 1171 $ 106.9 $ 1014
Interest & fiscal charges $ 102.8 $ 1137 $ 1028 $ 1137

Total Cost of Services

M |nstruction

2012
o Plant maintenance &
operations

B School leadership
2013

B Interest & fiscal charges

a

S0 $100 $200 $300 $400 S500 $600 $700 $800 $900 $1,000 $1,100 $1,200
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS

Governmental Funds The District's accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained
on a modified accrual basis as prescribed by the Financial Accountability System Resource Guide, Texas
Education Agency, with the revenues being recorded when available and measurable to finance expenditures
of the fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when services or goods are received and the fund liabilities are
incurred. The general governmental operations include the following major funds: General, Special Revenue,
Debt Service, Capital Renovation, and the other nonmajor governmental fund (Public Facility Corporation).

Revenues for general governmental functions totaled $1.877 billion (excluding other sources) for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2013, a decrease of 6.4 percent from the prior fiscal year. Property taxes were the largest
source of revenue received by the District at 67.5 percent of total revenues. Property taxes are part of the
District’s target revenue funding system established by House Bill 1 of the 79" Texas Legislature. The District
earns $5,007 per weighted average daily attendance (“WADA"). The difference between what the District
collects in property taxes and the target revenue per WADA is made up through state funding. As property
taxes increase, the amount of funding from the State of Texas decreases and vice versa.

Expenditures for general governmental operations totaled $2.144 billion during fiscal year 2013, a decrease of
10.1 percent from fiscal year 2012. Decreases in expenditures occurred in the functional areas of instruction,
instructional resources and media services, instructional staff development, school leadership, guidance,
counseling, and evaluation services, social work services, co-curricular/extracurricular activities, plant
maintenance and operations, community services, juvenile justice alternative education program, tax
reinvestment zone payments, facilities acquisition and construction.

The governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $1.374 billion, an increase of $117.6 million.
The net increase of the combined fund balances was comprised of fund balance increases in the Capital
Renovation Fund of $166.5 million and decreases in the Debt Service Fund of $17.1 million, the General Fund
$31.7 million. Out of the combined fund balances, $276.8 million constitutes unassigned fund balance. The
remainder of the fund balance is non-spendable, restricted, committed, or assigned to indicate that it is not
available for new spending.

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the District. The fund balance of the General Fund
decreased $31.7 million during the fiscal year primarily due to a decrease in state revenue and miscellaneous
local revenue sources, and an overall increase in expenditures. At the end of the fiscal year, the unassigned
fund balance represented 19.11 percent of the total General Fund expenditures, while total fund balance
represented 35.94 percent of that same amount.

The Special Revenue Fund accounts for all grants received by the District from local, state, and federal
sources. The ending fund balance of $25.3 million consists of $20.5 million which is restricted for E-rate
activities and carryover funds for lost textbooks.

The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $127 million all of which is restricted for the payment of
debt service. The net decrease in fund balance during the period in the Debt Service Fund was $17.1 million.
The District makes semi-annual debt service payments in December/June, January/July, February/August, and
March/September of each year. Debt service payments for the period ended June 30, 2013 included all
scheduled payments including payments due within 30 days of year end.

The Capital Renovation Fund has a total fund balance of $694.5 million for which $573.9 million is restricted for
rebuild construction programs. The fund balance increased by $166.5 million as a result of the sale of bonds
for the current Rebuild 2012 Bond Program.

The Capital Renovation Fund — Public Facility Corporation has a total fund balance of $6.8 million, all of which

is restricted for construction of four schools and debt service costs for the Rebuild 2007 Bond Program. There
was no significant change in the fund balance.
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Proprietary Funds The District maintains both enterprise funds and internal service funds. Information is
presented separately in the proprietary fund statement of net position and in the proprietary fund statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position for the Food Service Fund, which is considered to be a
major fund. The net position in the Food Service Fund as of June 30, 2013 was $15.3 million. Of this amount,
$715 thousand represented the investment in capital assets and $14.6 million was restricted. For the fiscal
year, net position for Food Service Funds increased by $6.7 million.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the District revised its budget several times. As a result, actual expenditures were
$171 million less than the appropriated budgeted amounts which resulted in positive variances. These
variances are the result of salaries, benefits, consultants, and contracted services being budgeted at a greater
amount than expenditures. Following were the key variances:

$49.9 million resulted from staffing adjustments (all areas including salaries, subs, stipends, overtime and
benefits)

$18.0 million resulted from plant maintenance and operations

$14.7 million resulted from instructional non-staffing funds

$13.0 million resulted from ASPIRE and other district-wide incentive pay

$2.4 million resulted from capital outlay

$2.0 million resulted from general administration

$1.8 million resulted from student transportation

$1.7 million resulted from instructional administration

Staffing is budgeted at one hundred percent of actual salary. Budget amounts for vacant positions are
monitored to ensure that only limited revisions are allowed for departments. Schools have a more flexible
revision policy but cannot take excess salary budgets for non-salary uses.

The final budgeted amount for revenues was $1.4 billion. Actual revenues are over the revised budget by $2.9
million.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
CAPITAL ASSETS

The District had invested $2.983 billion, net of depreciation, in a broad range of capital assets, including land,
buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, and vehicles. This amount represents a net increase
(including additions, deductions, and depreciation) of $177 million over last year.

District's Capital Assets

(net of depreciation, in thousands of dollars)

Total

Governmental Business-type Percentage

Activities Activities Total Change

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013-2012
Land $ 216,195 $ 214417  $ - $ - $ 216,195 $ 214,417 .83%
Buildings and Improvements 2,385,508 2,156,980 - - 2,385,508 2,156,980 10.59%
Vehicles 36,619 32,441 301 - 36,920 32,441 13.81%
Furniture and equipment 72,754 45,234 613 387 73,367 45,621 60.82%
Construction in progress 271,028 357,038 - - 271,028 357,038 -24.09%
Total $ 2982104 $ 2,806,110 $ 914 $ 387 § 2,983,018 $ _ 2,806,497 8.33%
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During 2013, the District opened the following schools: Lockhart ES, Neff ES, Reagan K-8 Education Center
and Carnegie Vanguard HS. As of June 30, 2013, the District had fully funded construction commitments of
$151,698,156. More detailed information about the District’'s capital assets is presented in Note 6 of the
“Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.”

Long Term Debt

As of June 30, 2013, the District had net bonded debt outstanding of $2.474 billion. The District debt totals
included $312.9 million in Variable Rate Bonds outstanding at fiscal year end. The ratio of net general bonded
debt to assessed valuation and the amount of bonded debt per student are useful indicators of the District's
debt position. This data reflects an increase in the ratio of net bonded debt to assessed value to 2.22 percent,
as compared to 2.17 percent last year.

A bond election held on November 6, 2012 authorized the issuance of $1.89 billion in bonded debt obligations
primarily for building or renovating high schools. On February 14, 2013 debt was issued comprising $340
million of the newly authorized debt. Refunding bonds were also issued at the same time defeasing $173
million par value of existing debt in order to reduce future debt service expenditures.

The District increased total variable rate debt by $130.9 million, the net result of issuing Variable Rate Bonds
Series 2013 in the amount of $147.1 million somewhat offset by the redemption of $16.2 million in existing
variable rate debt. Variable rate debt as a percentage of total bonded debt outstanding as of June 30, 2013 is
12.95 percent.

The District did not issue any contractual obligations or maintenance notes during the year ended June 30,
2013. Contractual obligations, with a remaining balance of $52,355,000, were issued for the purpose of
acquiring personal property assets and are authorized pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas, including the
Public Property Finance Act, Section 271.001 of the Texas Local Government Code.

Interest earnings on proceeds from debt issued since May 15, 1989, are subject to arbitrage regulations
contained in the Federal Tax Reform Act of 1986. The District records the liability as an assigned part of fund
balance, if needed, on an annual basis. As of June 30, 2013 no arbitrage rebate liability exists.

More detailed information about the District’s long term debt is presented in Note 8 of the “Notes to the Basic
Financial Statements.”

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The 2012-2013 fiscal year had a growth in the tax levy of approximately $73 million (6.2% increase) as
compared to the 2011-2012 fiscal year. However, this increase was an offset to state aid due to the state’s
target revenue funding formula which adjusts the state’s share by the changes in the District’'s tax revenues. In
addition to the changes in the tax levy, the District still had a shortfall in state funding due to the state’s budget
deficit from the 82nd legislature in May 2011. The District’'s budget was reduced for 2011-2012 and 2012-2013
by approximately $121 million for the biennium. The 2012-2013 fiscal year shortfall was $45 million. To cover
the deficit for the 2012-2013 fiscal year the District utilized one-time funding sources from Edu Jobs, debt
service fund and general fund fund balance in the amount $18.5, $17, and $8.9 million, respectively.

The 2013-2014 state revenue projections are based on an estimated average daily attendance (ADA) of
182,986 students or 252,369 based on a weighted average daily attendance.

In May 2013, the 83rd Legislature put $3.4 billion back into Public Education for the 2013-2014 biennium.
However, the funds were not put back into the funding formula in the same way they were taken out back in
2011. For HISD, the District’s allocated portion for fiscal year 2013-2014 will be approximately $52 million and
for 2014-2015 it will be approximately $6.6 million. Accordingly, the total funding increase to HISD will be
approximately $58.6 million over the biennium.
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The Legislature put the funds back in through several changes to the funding formula.

1. The basic allotment was increased from $4,765 to $4,950 in 2013-2014 and to $5,040 in 2014-2015.
This basic amount is the base amount generated by every student in HISD.

2. The Regular Program Adjustment Factor (RPAF) in the 82nd Legislature was reduced to in affect take
away funds from districts. This is being changed back from .98 (98%) to 1.00 (100%) of funding for the
basic program. This puts funds back into the district’'s budget.

3. The Equalized Wealth Level was changed from $476,500 to $495,000 in 2013-2014 and $504,000 in
2014-2015. This is the level at which a district becomes Chapter 41 (“Robin Hood”) and has to send a
portion of local property taxes to the state.

4. The Target Reduction Factor (TRF) is being increased from .9235 to .9263 for the biennium. As this
number changes it determines how much of the hold harmless you receive from the state for reducing
property taxes state- wide in 2007.

For 2013-2014, taxable property value was projected to increase by approximately $10 billion (9.11%) from the
2012-2013 original budget. In the 2013-2014 fiscal year, the District will move out of the funding formula’s
ASATR (Available State Aid for Tax Reduction) and will no longer receive supplemental funds for reducing the
tax rate in 2006-2007. However, under the hold-harmless provision, the increase in local property value will still
be partially offset by state aid. The District is still subject to less Target Revenue due to the funding cuts;
however, shifts in property taxes will provide some additional state revenue to the district.

The 2013-2014 General Fund operating budget had a net increase of $66.2 million. Budget adjustments
include the following major items:

Budget adjustments with offsetting revenue of $5.5 million:
e $6.2 million decrease in capital outlay
e  $4.3 million decrease in Tax Increment Reinvestment Zones (TIRZ)
e  $5.0 million increase for Texas Connections Academy

Total increases to the budget were $80.8 million. The following were key budget increases:
e $19.7 million in salary increases for all staff

$16.5 million for supplemental instructional time and service for low performing schools

$15.3 million for transfers out to debt service

$13.9 million for intervention funding for reading and math failures

$3.0 million gasoline for buses

$2.1 million for formative assessment

$1.7 million in appraisal district fees due to the increase in roll value

$1.6 million for AP/IB testing

$1.5 million in mandatory increases relating to contractual obligations

$1.0 million for Medicare and Retiree Sick Leave

$0.9 million for iStation

Total decreases to the budget were $9.1 million. The following were key budget decreases:
e $4.0 million in TRS Above State Minimum
e $1.5 million in unemployment
e $1.3 million Targeted Assistant Program (re-purposed to the intervention funding for reading and math
failures)
e  $1.2 million for Workers’ Compensation
e $0.6 million for Campus Online (re-purposed to formative assessment)

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a
general overview of the District's finances and to demonstrate the District’s accountability for the money it
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Chief
Financial Officer, at 4400 West 18" Street, Houston, Texas 77092, or call (713) 556-6600.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Delinquent taxes receivable - net of

estimated uncollectible taxes

Accounts receivable

Internal balances

Inventories

Other assets

Land

Construction in progress

Buildings and improvements

Furniture and equipment

Vehicles

Accumulated depreciation
Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and related expenses
Other liabilities
Unearned revenues
Interest payable
Long-term liabilities:
Portion due or payable within one year:
Bonds payable
Contractual obligations payable
Notes payable
Lease purchases
Accretion payable
Compensated absences payable
Claims payable
Portion due or payable after one year:
Bonds payable
Contractual obligations payable
Notes payable
Lease purchases
Accretion payable
Compensated absences payable
Claims payable
Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Capital acquisition program
Debt service
Food Service
Unrestricted
Total net position

JUNE 30, 2013

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ 3,597,358 $ 792,483 $ 4,389,841
1,692,562,711 68,005,579 1,760,568,290
36,087,778 - 36,087,778
76,231,568 24,232,666 100,464,234
35,887,183 (35,887,183) -
3,281,065 4,650,603 7,931,668
18,817,795 363,840 19,181,635
216,195,232 - 216,195,232
271,027,940 - 271,027,940
3,437,333,625 - 3,437,333,625
356,956,487 9,050,331 366,006,818
111,982,041 1,993,570 113,975,611
(1,411,391,366) (10,130,627) (1,421,521,993)
4,848,569,417 63,071,262 4,911,640,679
67,544,919 4,131,632 71,676,551
90,544,575 476,218 91,020,793
140,578,985 - 140,578,985
5,743,859 374,268 6,118,127
59,218,701 - 59,218,701
90,864,340 - 90,864,340
21,335,000 - 21,335,000
5,125,000 - 5,125,000
32,822 - 32,822
39,697,100 - 39,697,100
3,545,788 138,080 3,683,868
14,817,712 - 14,817,712
2,383,148,076 - 2,383,148,076
31,020,000 - 31,020,000
50,360,000 - 50,360,000
33,856 - 33,856
74,568,685 - 74,568,685
25,348,880 226,980 25,575,860
5,069,957 - 5,069,957
3,108,598,255 5,347,178 3,113,945,433
1,017,816,914 833,369 1,018,650,283
23,807,991 - 23,807,991
32,790,927 - 32,790,927
- 14,605,458 14,605,458
665,555,330 42,285,257 707,840,587
$ 1,739,971,162 $ 57,724,084 1,797,695,246

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2013

Total Fund Balances— Governmental Funds $ 1,374,382,541

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and

therefore, are not reported as assets in governmental funds. The cost of the
assets is $4,399,495,325 and the accumulated depreciation is $1,411,391,366. 2,982,103,959

Property taxes and other receivables are not available soon enough to pay for the current

period's expenditures, and therefore, are deferred in the funds. 28,200,391
Various internal service fund noncurrent assets included in the proprietary funds statement of (1,833,892)
net position.

Internal service funds are used by the District's management to charge the costs of
workers' compensation, health insurance, and print shop activities to the funds.
A portion of the assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included
with governmental activities. 101,973,574

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore, are not reported as liabilities in
in the funds. Long term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Bonds payable $ 2,417,003,210
Accretion of interest payable 114,265,785
Contractual obligations payable 31,020,000
Notes payable 50,360,000
Compensated absences payable 28,486,143
Lease purchases payable 66,678
Premium on bonds payable 73,146,691
Deferred loss on refunding of bonds (16,137,485)
Issue costs (10,424,412)
Accrued interest payable 57,068,801
(2,744,855,411)
Total Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 1,739,971,162

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF
REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Total Net Change in Fund Balances—Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount
by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Facilities acquisition and construction 211,984,053
Other Acquisitions and disposals 63,287,814
Depreciation expense (99,278,265)

Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Proceeds
from the sale of bonds is a source of financing in the governmental funds, but
the statement of net position recognizes it as an increase in the long term
liabilities. The changes in long term liabilities at year end consist of:

Bonds payable (207,103,200)
Contractual obligations payable 21,335,000
Notes payable 5,125,000
Amortization of premium on bonds payable (35,094,266)
Amortization of deferred loss on refunding of bonds 11,608,911
Issuance costs 1,761,570
Amortization of issuance costs (2,150,061)
Lease purchase payable, net (38,410)
Accretion payable, net 18,124,538

Property taxes and other receivables, that will not be collected until after the District's
fiscal year end, are not considered "available" revenues and are deferred in the
governmental funds. Deferred tax revenues, net of allowance for bad debt, and other
deferred revenues increased by this amount this year.

Interest on long-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount
reported in the governmental funds because interest is recognized as an
expenditure in the funds when it is due, and thus, requires the use of current financial
resources. In the statement of activities, however, interest expense is recognized as
the interest accrues, regardless of when it is due.

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets having the effect
of decreasing net assets.

In the statement of activities, compensated absences (sick pay, state personal
leave, vacations) are measured by the amounts earned during the year. In the
governmental funds, however, expenditures for these items are measured by the amount
of financial resources used (essentially, the amounts actually paid).
This year the amounts earned were exceeded by the compensated absences used.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities, such as workers' compensation, health insurance, and print
shop activities, to individual funds. A portion of the net revenue (expense) of
the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities.

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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(1,876,128)
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ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Due from other funds
Accrued interest
Inventories
Other assets
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Buildings and improvements
Construction in progress
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles
Less accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Deferred revenue
Accrued salaries payable
Compensated absences payable
Claims and judgments payable
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences payable
Claims and judgments payable
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Food Service
Unrestricted
Total net position

HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2013

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement
of net position are different because certain internal service fund assets
and liabilities are included with business-type activities.

Net position of business-type activities

Governmental
Food Nonmajor Activities-
Service Enterprise Internal Service
Fund Funds Totals Funds
$ 123,551 § 668,932 792,483 $ 152,572
10,450,232 57,555,347 68,005,579 122,667,217
3,201,077 21,031,589 24,232,666 509,462
- 1,414 1,414 6,413,230
- - - 46,339
4,641,414 9,189 4,650,603 -
358,940 4,900 363,840 62,482
18,775,214 79,271,371 98,046,585 129,851,302
- - - 558,545
- - - 1,192,153
8,712,563 337,768 9,050,331 1,080,077
1,993,570 - 1,993,570 125,049
(9,990,712) (139,915) (10,130,627) (1,121,932)
715,421 197,853 913,274 1,833,892
19,490,635 79,469,224 98,959,859 131,685,194
2,736,513 1,395,119 4,131,632 3,844,389
376,450 40,032,913 40,409,363 765,749
374,268 - 374,268 20,450
416,491 59,727 476,218 264,072
90,014 48,066 138,080 91,086
- - - 14,817,712
3,993,736 41,535,825 45,529,561 19,803,458
176,020 50,960 226,980 317,439
- - - 5,069,957
176,020 50,960 226,980 5,387,396
4,169,756 41,586,785 45,756,541 25,190,854
715,421 117,948 833,369 1,833,892
14,605,458 - 14,605,458 -
- 37,764,491 37,764,491 104,660,448
$ 15,320,879 $ 37,882,439 53,203,318 $ 106,494,340
4,520,766

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Food Nonmajor Activities-
Service Enterprise Internal Service
Fund Funds Totals Funds
OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for sales and services:
Sales to customers $ 10,301,716 $ 451,426 % 10,753,142 $ 20,693,493
Consulting services - 12,167,006 12,167,006 -
Charges to employees and other funds - - - 125,264,262
Miscellaneous 979,600 100 979,700 1,032,334
Total operating revenues 11,281,316 12,618,532 23,899,848 146,990,089
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Payroll costs 42,336,654 2,218,766 44,555,420 15,296,050
Purchased and contracted services 10,734,005 10,080,110 20,814,115 5,617,261
Supplies and materials 53,643,984 394,378 54,038,362 3,798,992
Other operating expenses 1,099,542 236,405 1,335,947 1,783,321
Claims and judgments - - - 99,348,766
Depreciation 122,251 31,955 154,206 106,932
Total operating expenses 107,936,436 12,961,614 120,898,050 125,951,322
Operating income (loss) (96,655,120) (343,082) (96,998,202) 21,038,767
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Earnings on investments 5,651 81,649 87,300 263,567
Grants from federal agencies:
Child nutrition program 95,073,985 - 95,073,985 -
Donated commodities 3,772,377 - 3,772,377 -
Child and Adult Care Program 649,585 - 649,585 -
Summer food program 3,241,155 - 3,241,155 -
School health services (SHARS) - 25,444,256 25,444,256 -
State matching and other 572,680 - 572,680 -
Total nonoperating revenue 103,315,433 25,525,905 128,841,338 263,567
Income (loss) before transfers 6,660,313 25,182,823 31,843,136 21,302,334
Transfers out - (39,960,550) (39,960,550) -
Change in net position 6,660,313 (14,777,727) (8,117,414) 21,302,334
Total net position—beginning 8,660,566 52,660,166 85,192,006
Total net position—ending $ 15,320,879 $ 37,882,439 $ 106,494,340

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement
of activities are different because a portion of the net revenue (expense)
of certain internal service funds is reported with business-type activities. 1,084,260

Change in net position of business-type activities $ (7,033,154)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from user charges
Other receipts
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments to other funds
Claims paid
Other payments
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Child nutrition program
State matching and other
Child and Adult Care Program
Summer food program
Receipts from SHARS
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of capital assets
Net cash used by capital and related
financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Interest and dividends

Net cash used by investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Balances—beginning of the year
Balances—end of the year
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash

provided (used) by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash

provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Donated commodities

Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventory
Accounts payables
Due from other funds
Accrued interest
Due to other funds
Accrued salaries payable
Compensated absences payable
Current portion of claims and judgments
Other long term claims and judgments
Other
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

Governmental

Food Nonmajor Activities-

Service Enterprise Internal

Fund Funds Totals Service Funds

$ 9,678,429 $§ 17,534,234 § 27,212,663 $ 146,303,433

4,823,389 - 4,823,389 1,049,550

(62,380,677) (11,133,004) (73,513,681) (9,346,612)

(42,404,329) (94,451) (42,498,780) (18,036,457)
(98,342) (98,342) -

- - - (102,548,754)

37,867,778 37,867,778 (143,487)

(90,381,530) 44,174,557 (46,206,973) 17,277,673

95,073,985 - 95,073,985 -
572,680 - 572,680 -
649,585

3,241,155 - 3,241,155 -
- 25,444,256 25,444,256 -
(39,960,550) (39,960,550)

99,537,405 (14,516,294) 84,371,526 -
(600,628) (79,905) (680,533) (713,184)
(600,628) (79,905) (680,533) (713,184)

(64,985,651) (39,525,979) (104,511,630) (271,380,456)

56,500,000 10,396,500 66,896,500 254,582,266

5,651 81,649 87,300 263,567

(8,480,000) (29,047,830) (37,527,830) (16,534,623)

75,247 530,528 (43,810) 29,866

48,304 138,404 186,708 122,706

$ 123,551 $ 668,932 $ 792,483 $ 152,572

$ (96,655,120) $ (343,082) $ (96,998,202) $ 21,038,767

122,251 31,955 154,206 106,932
3,772,377 - 3,772,377 -

(623,287) 4,915,703 4,292,416 (24,550)
1,399,765 (1,363) 1,398,402 -

1,697,089 (420,747) 1,276,342 (156,303)

- - - 2,299,941

- - - (3,234)

(98,342) 39,971,167 39,872,825 (2,052,455)

18,955 10,491 29,446 53,441

(86,629) 10,433 (76,196) 1,602

- - - 638,194

- - - (4,641,297)

71,411 - 71,411 16,635

$ (90,381,530) $ 44,174,557 § (46,206,973) $ 17,277,673

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2013

Private-Purpose
Trust Funds

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ -

Investments 9,436,152
Total assets 9,436,152

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable -
Accrued salaries payable -
Due to student/administrative groups -

Total liabilities -

NET POSITION
Held in trust for scholarships 9,436,152
Total net position $ 9,436,152

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Agency
Funds

5,180,493
6,887,478

12,067,971

457,884
44,136
11,565,951

12,067,971




HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Private-Purpose
Trust Funds

ADDITIONS
Gifts and contributions $ 210,600
Earnings on investments 11,610
Total additions 222,210
DEDUCTIONS
Scholarships awarded 829,824
Total deductions 829,824
Change in net position (607,614)
Net position—beginning of the year 10,043,766
Net position—end of the year $ 9,436,152

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REPORTING ENTITY

The Houston Independent School District (“District”) is an independent school district created and incorporated
through legislation enacted by the Thirty-Eighth Texas State Legislature in 1923. The District is the largest
school district in Texas and is governed by the Board of Education, composed of nine Board Members, all of
whom are elected officials.

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 14, The Financial
Reporting Entity, (“GASB Statement No. 14”), a financial reporting entity consists of the primary government and
its component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the
District are financially accountable, or for which the relationship to the District is such that exclusion would cause
the District’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Discretely presented component units, on the
other hand, are reported in a separate column in the basic financial statements to emphasize they are legally
separate from the School District. The District’'s blended component unit, although a legally separate entity, is in
substance a part of the District’'s operations, and so data from this entity is combined with data of the primary
government.

The criteria used to determine whether an organization is a component unit of the District includes: financial
accountability of the District for the component unit, whether the District appoints a voting majority of the entities
board, the ability to impose the District’s will on the component unit, fiscal dependency criterion, if it is a financial
benefit to or burden to the District, and whether services are provided entirely or almost entirely to the District.

For financial reporting purposes, the Houston Independent School District Public Facility Corporation (“Public
Facility Corporation”) is included as a blended component unit in the operations and activities of the District. The
criteria used to include the Public Facility Corporation as a blended component unit of the District include: the
District appoints a voting majority of the Public Facility Corporation’s governing body, the District is able to
impose its will on the Public Facility Corporation and the Public Facility Corporation serves the District
exclusively. The Public Facility Corporation’s data is reported in a separate column in the governmental funds
financial statements.

For financial reporting purposes, the Houston Independent School District GEAR UP Trust (‘GEAR UP Trust”) is
included in the fiduciary activities of the District because of the financial accountability of the District, the
appointment of a voting majority, and the fiscal dependency criteria whereby the GEAR UP Trust serves the
District’'s students exclusively. The GEAR UP Trust was incorporated to ensure that the scholarship funds are
properly spent and to guarantee a college scholarship to the eligible students at the participating schools of the
GEAR UP program. The GEAR UP financial information is blended with that of the District in the Statement of
Fiduciary Net Position for Private-Purpose Trust Funds. Separate financial statements for GEAR UP Trust are
not issued.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities of the government-wide financial statements report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the District and its blended component unit. The effect of
interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which
rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset
by program revenues. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or
privileges provided, (2) operating grants and contributions, and (3) capital grants and contributions. Program
revenues included in the Statement of Activities reduce the cost of the function to be financed from general

30



HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

revenues. Taxes and other items not properly identified as program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues.

The District reports all direct expenses by function in the Statement of Activities. Direct expenses are those
clearly identifiable with a function. Depreciation expense is specifically identified by function and is included in
the direct expense to each function.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. In
accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34, the fiduciary funds are excluded from the
government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Government-wide Financial Statements -- The government-wide financial statements are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the
exchange takes place, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses,
assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange transactions are recognized in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 33. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants, and
similar items, are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been met and funds are
available to meet current expenditures.

Fund Financial Statements -- Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon
as they are both measurable and available. State aid and miscellaneous revenues, other than property taxes,
are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or within 90 days of the fiscal
year end to pay liabilities of the current period. Property taxes are considered to be available if collected within
60 days of the fiscal year end. Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of
accounting in the accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, if measurable. However, debt service
expenditures are recognized in the current fiscal period for debt service principal and interest payments due
within 30 days in the subsequent fiscal period as these funds have been set aside for that purpose.
Compensated absences and claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is due. Proprietary fund
statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Fiduciary fund statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis
of accounting.

During the fiscal year 2013, the District adopted GASB Statement 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows
of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position (“GASB 63”) which amends the net asset
reporting requirements in Statement No. 34 and other pronouncements by incorporating deferred outflows of the
resources and deferred inflows of resources into the definitions of the required components of the residual
measure and by renaming that measure as net position rather than net assets. Implementation of GASB 63 is
reflected in the financial statements.

Funds

The District reports its financial activities through the use of “fund accounting.” The activities of the District are
organized on the basis of funds. The operations of each fund are accounted for within a separate set of self-
balancing accounts to reflect results of activities. Fund accounting segregates funds according to their intended
purpose and is used to assist management in demonstrating compliance with finance-related legal and
contractual provisions. As required by the Texas Education Agency, the following fund types are included in the
financial statements:
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HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Governmental Funds

Governmental Funds are those through which most governmental functions of the District are financed. The
acquisition, use and balances of the District's expendable financial resources, and the related liabilities are
accounted for through the Governmental Fund Types. The following are the District's major governmental funds:

» General Fund -- The General Fund is the general operating fund of the District and accounts for all revenues
and expenditures of the District not encompassed within other funds.

» Special Revenue Fund -- The Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue
sources (other than private-purpose trust funds or capital projects) such as federal, state or locally financed
programs where unused balances are returned to the grantor at the close of specified project periods.
Funds are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.

« Debt Service Fund -- The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and
the retirement of, general long-term debt and related costs.

» Capital Renovation Fund -- The Capital Renovation Fund is used to account for financial resources to be
used for the acquisition, renovation or construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by
proprietary funds.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary Funds are used to account for operations that are financed in a manner similar to those found in the
private sector, where the determination of net income is appropriate for sound financial administration.

» Enterprise Funds -- The Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated
in @ manner similar to a private enterprise where the District's intent is to provide services financed primarily
through user charges. The Food Service Fund is considered a major proprietary fund as defined by GASB
Statement No. 34. The Food Service Fund accounts for services provided to District students and include all
federal and state funds for such services.

* Internal Service Funds -- The Internal Service Funds are used to account for operations related to the Print
Shop, Alternative Certification Program, Athletics, University Interscholastic League (“‘UIL”), Shared
Services, Virtual School, and risk financing activities of the District.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District’s proprietary
funds are charges to customers and other funds for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary
funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a trustee capacity or as an agent for
individuals, private organizations and/or other funds.
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* Private-Purpose Trust Funds -- Private-purpose trust funds are used to account for resources legally held in
trust under which principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations or other governments. The
District’s private-purpose trust funds represent scholarship funds being held in trust for students.

* Agency Funds -- Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve
measurement of results of operations. The District’'s agency funds represent school class and club activity
funds. The District does not use clearing accounts to distribute financial resources to other funds of the
District.

ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The District's Cash Management and Investment Policy requires all deposits to be fully collateralized with
depository insurance; obligations of the United States of America or its agencies and instrumentalities (excluding
those mortgage backed securities prohibited by the Public Funds Investment Act); public funds investment pools;
or in any other manner and amount provided by law for deposits of the District. At all times, such securities are
to have a fair value sufficient to fully collateralize deposit balances as adjusted by the amount of applicable
depository insurance pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 2257.022.

The District considers cash and cash equivalents to be cash on hand and demand deposits. All other monetary
assets are treated as investments including certificates of deposit, investment pools, money market instruments,
and other securities defined under the Public Funds Investment Act.

Investments

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which the investment can be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties. Management of the District believes that in the areas of investment practice,
management reports, and establishment of appropriate policies, the District adhered to the requirements of the
State of Texas Public Funds Investment Act. Additionally, management of the District believes that investment
practices of the District were in accordance with local policies.

Receivables and Payables

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of allowance for uncollectibles. The property tax receivable
allowance is 68.87 percent of outstanding property taxes at June 30, 2013.

Inventories

Under the consumption method of accounting for inventories, materials and supplies are carried in an inventory
account on the basis of the last invoice cost, which approximates the first-in, first-out method, and are
subsequently charged to expenses/expenditures when consumed. Inventories include plant maintenance and
operating supplies as well as instructional supplies. Revenue for donated commodities is recognized when the
commodities are received. Other inventories are offset at year end by non-spendable fund balance in the
governmental fund financial statements.

Grant Fund Accounting

The Special Revenue Fund includes programs that are financed on a project grant basis. These projects have
grant periods that range from less than twelve months to in excess of two years. Grants are recorded as
revenues when earned, which the District considers to be earned to the extent expenditures have been incurred,
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and the District has met all eligibility requirements. Funds received, but not earned, are recorded as deferred
revenue until earned.

Indirect costs earned from grant programs are recorded as revenues of the General Fund. These indirect costs
are determined by applying approved indirect cost rates to actual expenditures of the programs.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure
of funds are recorded in the accounting system in order to reserve the portion of the applicable appropriation, is
employed in the Governmental Fund Types on the governmental fund financial statements. Encumbrances,
which have not been liquidated, are reported as restricted, committed, or assigned fund balances.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, and vehicles are
reported in the applicable governmental and business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial
statements and proprietary fund financial statements. Capital acquisition and construction are reflected as
expenditures in governmental funds. Land, buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, and vehicles
are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. The capitalization
threshold is a unit cost of $5,000. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of
donation. Depreciation on all depreciable capital assets begins on the date the asset is placed into service using
the straight-line method of depreciation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the
life of the asset are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as
projects are constructed.

Capital assets are depreciated over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Classification Useful Life
Buildings and improvements 40 years
Vehicles:

Buses 12 years
Medium 7 years
Small 5 years
Furniture 5 years
Equipment 5 years

Interfund Transactions

Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” All other balances between funds are reported as
transfers. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities
are reported in the government-wide statements as “internal balances.”
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A description of the basic types of interfund transactions and the related accounting policies are as follows:

» Charges for services are reported as revenues for the performing fund and expenditures/expenses of the
requesting fund.

» Transactions to reimburse a fund for expenditures made by it for the benefit of another fund are recorded as
expenditures or expenses in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures or expenses in the
fund that is reimbursed.

* All other interfund transfers, such as legally authorized transfers from a fund receiving revenue to the fund
through which the resources are to be expended, are transfers. Transfers are classified as other financing
sources or uses in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.

For reporting at the government-wide financial statement level, the District eliminates direct interfund charges for
services and the balances created within the same activity categories (i.e. governmental vs. business-type).
This process ensures neither governmental nor business-type activities report direct internal
revenue/expenditures. Interfund activity and balances resulting from transactions with the fiduciary funds are not
eliminated. Instead, the fiduciary interfund activity and balances are treated as transactions with an external
party. The Internal Service Funds are essentially repositories for income, expenses, assets and liabilities of the
District’s health insurance, worker’'s compensation, print shop, alternative certification, athletics, shared services,
and UIL.

Compensated Absences

The District's contract employees earn one day of sick leave per month for all months under contract, which may
either be taken or accumulated with no limitation. Accumulated sick leave balances are not paid upon
termination from the District, except those paid on retirement or death of employees who meet certain eligibility
requirements and were hired prior to October 10, 1972.

Twelve-month employees earn vacation ranging from two to four weeks per year based on length of service.
Vacation days may be carried over from one contract year to another with a maximum limit of 30 days. For
twelve-month employees, the contract runs from September 1% through August 31,

The District accrues vacation, state personal leave, and eligible sick leave in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements. A liability and related expenditure for these amounts is reported in the
governmental funds only if they have matured as a result of employee retirements or resignations and are due.

The District's compensatory time policy requires that compensatory time be taken by the end of the school year
in which it was earned. At June 30, 2013, the District had no material liability for compensatory time.

Long-term Liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as
liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the
life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Deferred losses on refunding and bond issuance costs are
amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of the debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt
issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
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RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances — total governmental funds and changes in net position of
governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One element of that
reconciliation explains that “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense.” The details of this $175,993,602 difference are as follows:

Facilities acquisition and construction $ 211,984,053
Other acquisitions and disposals 63,287,814
Depreciation expense (99,278,265)

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total
governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of
governmental activities . $ 175,993,602

FUND BALANCES AND NET POSITION

Government-wide Financial Statements

Net assets on the Statement of Net Position includes the following:

Net investment in capital assets -- the component of net position that reports capital assets less both the
accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balance of debt and is directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of these capital assets.

Restricted for capital acquisition program -- the component of net position that reports the difference between
assets and liabilities of the capital acquisition program consists of assets with constraints placed on their use
by the bond contracts and covenants contained therein.

Restricted for debt service -- the component of net position that reports the difference between assets and
liabilities adjusted on a government-wide basis that consists of assets with constraints placed on their use by
the bond covenants.

Restricted for food service -- the component of net position that reports the difference between assets and
liabilities of the Food Service Fund that consists of assets with constraints placed on their use by the
Department of Agriculture and the Texas Education Agency.

Unrestricted -- the difference between the assets and liabilities that are not reported in net position invested in
capital assets, net of related debt, or restricted net assets.

The District applies restricted resources before unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for which
restricted net position is available.
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Governmental Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balances as either a non-spendable fund
balance or a spendable fund balance.

Non-spendable Fund Balance

Non-spendable fund balance is that portion of fund balance that is not expendable (such as inventories) or is
legally earmarked for a specific use (such as the self-funded reserves program). Non-spendable fund balance
reserves may include inventories, prepaid items, deferred expenditures, and long-term receivables.

Spendable Fund Balance

Spendable fund balance is composed of restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned portions. Components
of the spendable fund balance include:

Restricted Fund Balance -- the component of the spendable fund balance constrained to a specific purpose by
the provider, such as a grantor. Restricted fund balance includes funds for the child nutrition program,
technology program, construction programs, and resources from other granting agencies.

Committed Fund Balance -- the component of the spendable fund balance constrained to a specific purpose by
a resolution approved by the Board. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless
the Board removes or changes the specified use by taking the same action used to establish it. Committed
fund balance includes funds for potential litigation, claims, judgments, and campus activity funds.

Assigned Fund Balance -- the component of the spendable fund balance that is spendable or available for
appropriation, but has been tentatively earmarked for some specific purpose by the Superintendent or Chief
Financial Officer. The assigned amounts can only be removed by the Superintendent or Chief Financial
Officer. Assigned fund balance includes funds for insurance deductibles, program start-up costs and other
legal issues.

Unassigned Fund Balance -- the component of the spendable fund balance which may be spent for any legal
purpose. This portion of the total fund balance in the general fund is available to finance operating
expenditures.

In general, it is HISD policy to consider restricted resources to have been spent first when an expenditure is
incurred for purposes for which restricted and unrestricted (i.e. committed, assigned, or unassigned) fund
balances are available, followed by committed and then assigned fund balances. Unassigned amounts are used
only after the other resources have been used.

Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability

The Board of Education adopts an appropriated budget for the General Fund, Special Revenue Fund, Debt
Service Fund, Capital Renovation Fund and Food Service Fund. The District is required to present the adopted
and final amended budgeted revenues and expenditures and actual revenues and expenditures for the General
Fund and Special Revenue Fund, which are considered major funds as defined by GASB Statement No. 34.
Both the General Fund Budget and the Special Revenue Fund Budget appear in the required supplementary
information section where the District compares the final amended budget to actual revenues and expenditures.

Management’s Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
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date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2: HISD PUBLIC FACILITY CORPORATION

The Public Facility Corporation is a public non-profit corporation, the creation of which was sponsored by the
District pursuant to the Public Facility Corporation Act, Article 717s, Vernon’s Texas Civil Statutes, as amended
(the “Public Facility Corporation Act”). The Public Facility Corporation Act authorizes the creation and utilization
by school districts of public facility corporations to issue bonds to provide for the acquisition, construction,
rehabilitation, renovation, repair, equipping, furnishing and placing in service of public facilities of its
governmental sponsor and further authorizes the governmental sponsor to incur lease purchase obligations in
favor of the corporation to serve as security for the bonds issued by the Public Facility Corporation.

To accomplish the financings, the Public Facility Corporation and the District have entered into a number of
“Leases With An Option to Purchase” pursuant to the terms of which the District will pay to the Public Facility
Corporation such lease payments at such times and in such amounts as will be required to pay the principal and
premium, if any, and interest on the lease revenue bonds as they become due.

The Public Facility Corporation has utilized this structure to issue Lease Revenue Bonds for building two high
schools in 1998, a food warehouse facility in 2006, and the building of four elementary schools in 2010.

NOTE 3: CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Statutes of the State of Texas and policies mandated by the District’s Board of Education authorize the District to
invest in obligations of the U.S. Government or its agencies, repurchase agreements, commercial paper, public
fund investment pools, mutual funds and money market accounts. All cash balances and investments are held
separately in each of its funds.

Funds held at the depository bank were properly secured at all times and the following was disclosed:
a. Name of depository bank: JP Morgan Chase Bank

b. Amount of bond or security pledged as of the date of the highest combined balance on deposit was
$5,126,538.

C. Highest cash, savings and time deposits combined account balances amounted to $36,611,577 and
occurred on July 3, 2012. The total deposits that date included $36,118,720 in noninterest bearing
transaction accounts fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Interest bearing accounts on the date of highest deposit totaled $492,857 requiring $242,857 in collateral.

d. Total amount of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) coverage at the time of highest combined
balance was $250,000 for interest bearing accounts and was unlimited for non-interest bearing accounts.

Cash Deposits

As of June 30, 2013, the carrying amount of the District's demand and time deposits and cash on hand was
$8,190,274. The $20,489,315 bank balance was covered by federal deposit insurance through the FDIC or was
collateralized by securities held by the District’s depository in joint safekeeping at the Federal Reserve Bank in
the District's name. The HISD Public Facility Corporation’s $604,800 was held in a money market account at the
Bank of New York Trust Company, N. A. The balance of HISD Public Facility Corporation’s $775,896 was
invested in Morgan Stanley Government Portfolio through its trustee, the Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.
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Investments

In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and for External Investment Pools (“GASB Statement No. 31”), the District’'s investments have been
recorded at fair value based upon quoted market prices as of June 30, 2013, with the increase or decrease in fair
value being recorded as a component of earnings on investments. None of the District’'s investments have been
reported at amortized cost.

The District’s investments in public funds investment pools and money market mutual funds include those with
the Lone Star Investment Pool (“LSIP”), TexSTAR, and TexPool. The fair value of the District's position in the
above pools is the same as the value of the pool shares.

LSIP is a public funds investment pool created pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act of the State of Texas,
Article 4413(32c), Vernon’s Texas Civil Statutes, as amended, and is designed to provide participating local
governments with investment vehicles for (1) local funds that are not required to be spent immediately and are
available for investment in securities with maturities and returns generally greater than those for money market
instruments and (2) local funds which provide daily liquidity. The objective of the LSIP is to provide participating
local governments with the highest possible rate of return for such funds, while maintaining safety of principal
and providing participants with access to funds no less frequently than once per month. To achieve its objective,
the LSIP invests primarily in obligations issued or secured by the U.S. Government and its agencies and
instrumentalities and in commercial paper. Investment advisory services are provided by American Beacon
Advisors and BNY Mellon Cash Investment Strategies. The custodial account is managed by The Bank of New
York Mellon while CAPTRUST Financial Advisors provides investment consulting services.

The Lone Star Government Overnight Fund is a stable value fund rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s rating
service and the Corporate Overnight Plus Fund is a stable net asset value fund seeking to maintain a net asset
value of $0.50 and is rated AAAf/S1+ by Standard & Poor’s.

The District’s investment in LSIP’s Government Overnight Fund and the Corporate Overnight Plus Fund, as of
June 30, 2013, was $96,871,126 and $424,389,462, respectively, for a total of $521,260,588, representing 29.33
percent of the total portfolio.

TexPool is a public funds investment pool operated by the Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Company, an
entity of which the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts is the sole officer, director, and shareholder.
Administrative and investment services are provided by Federated Investors, Inc., and the assets are kept in a
separate custodial account at the State Street Bank in the name of TexPool. TexPool is rated as an AAAm
money market fund by Standard & Poor’s.

As of June 30, 2013, the District's investment in TexPool and TexPool Prime was $384,757,493 and
$97,462,588, respectively, with a value of $482,220,081, representing 27.13 percent of the total portfolio. All
income from investments associated with each fund has been recognized and recorded as income in each of the
District’s funds.

TexSTAR was created in April 2003, also under the Interlocal Cooperation Act. It is administered by First
Southwest Asset Management, Inc. and JP Morgan Chase while JP Morgan Fleming Asset Management
provides investment advisory services. The fund is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.

As of June 30, 2013, the District’s investment in TexSTAR was $306,474,869, or 17.25 percent of the portfolio.
As with all the investment pools, funds are readily available to support daily cash requirements, while maintaining
yields slightly higher than standard bank deposit accounts. The balance includes the HISD Public Facility
Corporation’s $1,164,400 invested in TexSTAR through its trustee, the Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A. These funds are restricted for use in the building of four elementary school projects.
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The District has invested in negotiable certificates of deposit issued by Metro Bank and Unity Bank, $500,000
and $240,000, respectively, as of June 30, 2013, for a total of $740,000, or 0.04 percent of the portfolio. The
collateral for the Metro Bank certificate is held at the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas in the District’s name.
Unity Bank’s certificate is covered in full by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”); therefore, it requires
no additional collateral under the Public Funds Investment Act Section 2257.022.

The District has invested in U.S. Agency Securities, issued by Federal Farm Credit Bank (“FFCB”) and Federal
Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”). Investments in these securities total $416,054,082 and represent 23.43 percent of
the value of the total portfolio.

The District has invested in Treasury Bonds, issued by the United States Government. Investments in these U.S.
Treasury securities total $50,142,300 and represent 2.82 percent of the value of the total portfolio.

GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, an amendment to GASB Statement No. 3,
establishes and modifies disclosure requirements related to deposits and investment risks: credit risk (including
custodial credit risk and concentrations of credit risk), interest rate risk, and foreign currency risk.

To ensure compliance with the various risk factors addressed in GASB Statement No. 40, the District's
Investment Advisory Committee reviewed the Cash Management and Investment Policy. The Cash Management
and Investment Policy is reviewed by the Investment Advisory Committee at least annually and presented to the
Board of Education for approval. The Investment Officers submit a Quarterly Investment Report to the Board of
Education certifying that all investments were purchased in compliance with the Cash Management and
Investment Policy.

The District's Cash Management and Investment Policy contains the following objectives:

(1)  assure the safety of District's funds;

(2) maintain sufficient liquidity to provide adequate and timely working funds;

(3) match the maturity of investment instruments to the daily cash flow requirements;

(4) attain a market average rate of return consistent with (1) and (2) above;

(5) diversify investments as to maturity, instrument, and financial institution, where
permitted, under the laws of the State of Texas;

(6) actively pursue portfolio management techniques; and

(7) avoid investments for speculation.

All objectives are approached with the judgment and care, under the circumstances then prevailing, which
persons of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for
speculation, but for investment, considering the safety of the capital, as well as the probable income to be
derived. Preservation of District capital is of highest importance. All participants in the investment process seek
to act responsibly as custodians of the public trust. Investment officials avoid any transaction that might impair
public confidence in the District's ability to govern effectively.

Interest Rate Risk

As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses that could occur from rising interest rates, the District’s
investment policy limits the maturities of investments and prohibits any investment for speculative gains. The
available funds in the General Operating Fund may be invested for greater than one year provided that all cash
flow requirements have been met. Available monies in all other funds, except for bond proceeds, can be invested
for a period of up to ten years provided that cash flow needs are met. Bond proceeds can be invested for a
period up to five years provided that the drawdown schedules permit such maturities.
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The District recognizes that investment risks can result from market price changes. Portfolio diversification is
employed as a way to control risk. Investment officers are expected to display prudence in the selection of
securities, as a way to minimize risk. No individual investment transaction shall be undertaken which jeopardizes
the total capital position of the overall portfolio.

At June 30, 2013, the District’s exposure to interest rate risk as measured by segmented time distribution by
investment type is summarized below:

6/30/2013 Investment Maturities in Years
Fair Issuer
Value Concentration Less than 1 1-5

U.S. Treasury Bonds $ 50,142,300 2.82% - $ 50,142,300
FFCB 183,459,563 10.33% 35,001,050 148,458,513
FHLB 232,594,519 13.10% 85,059,699 147,534,820
Total US Agency

Investments 416,054,082 23.43% 120,060,749 295,993,333
Lone Star Investment Pool 521,260,588 29.33% 521,260,588 -
TexPool 482,220,081 27.13% 482,220,081 -
TexStar 306,474,869 17.25% 306,474,869 -

Total Investment Pools 1,309,955,538 73.71% 1,309,955,538 -
Certificates of Deposit 740,000 0.04% 740,000 -

Total Investments $ 1,776,891,920 100.00% 1,430,756,287 $ 346,135,633

As of June 30, 2013, the dollar weighted average maturity of the total portfolio was 142 days. The modified

duration as of June 30, 2013 was 0.3897 years.
Credit Risk

The District's Cash Management and Investment Policy allows for investments in commercial paper provided it
meets the following criteria:

1. the maximum maturity does not exceed 270 days from the date of issuance;

2. itis rated at least A1 or P1 by two nationally recognized credit rating agencies or by one agency when
fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit from a United States (nationally associated) or state (state
associated) bank;

be issued for a specific face amount;

be issued either through a direct placement or through broker dealers;

the District will diversify its investment in commercial paper by issuer and by length of maturity; and

the maximum the District will have in commercial paper at any time is 30 percent of the District’s portfolio.

o0k w
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As of June 30, 2013, the District did not have any investments in commercial paper. The District’'s exposure to
credit risk at June 30, 2013 is presented below by investment category as rated by Standard & Poor’s:

Fair Value Rating
U.S. Treasury Bonds $ 50,142,300 AA+/A-1+
FFCB 183,459,563 AA+/A-1+
FHLB 232,594,519 AA+/A-1+
Total US Agency
Investments 416,054,082
Lone Star Investment Pool 521,260,588 AAAmM, AAAf/S1+
TexPool 482,220,081 AAAM
TexSTAR 306,474,869 AAAM
Total Investment Pools 1,309,955,538
Certificates of Deposit 740,000 Not rated
Total Investments $ 1,776,891,920

Federal Farm Credit Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank are instrumentalities of U.S. Government; otherwise
known as government sponsored corporations. These instrumentalities are established by law to implement the
Federal Government’s various lending programs.

Custodial Credit Risk - Funds on deposit with the depository bank are collateralized by pledged approved
securities as specified by Section 45.208, Subchapter G, of Texas Education Code and/or a surety bond as in
Section 45.208, Subchapter G, of the Texas Education Code to adequately protect the funds of the District.
Further, the District will require pledged securities at least equal to that set forth in Texas Government Code
Chapter 2257.022, Subchapter B, Depository: Security For Deposit of Public Funds (currently 110 percent of the
amount of the deposit if a reducing value security and equal to the deposit otherwise). The District has the right to
designate the amount of approved securities and/or the aggregate amount of the bond to adequately protect the
District. The District may not designate an amount less than the balance of school district funds on deposit with
the depository bank from day to day, less any applicable Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance. The
approved securities shall be valued at market value for purposes of calculating the designated amount of
collateral required. The bank shall have the right and privilege of substituting approved securities upon obtaining
the approval of the District.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation adopted an interim rule providing a six month extension until
December 31, 2010, of the Transaction Account Guarantee (TAG) Program for insured depository institution
participating in the TAG program. JPMorgan Chase was not a participating institution. Insurance for interest and
non-interest bearing accounts was $250,000 until December 31, 2010. On December 31, 2010, the Dodd-Frank
Deposit Insurance Provision of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act became
effective. Under the provision non-interest bearing transaction accounts are fully insured with no cap limitations.
Interest bearing accounts are subject to a $250,000 insurance cap. The provision expired on December 31, 2012
reverting to deposit insurance limits of $250,000 for interest and non-interest bearing accounts.

Investments purchased for Houston Independent School District are made in the name of the Houston
Independent School District. All investments are purchased with the delivery versus payment method and are
recorded in the District's name on the Federal Reserve's book entry system and confirmed to the District via
safekeeping receipt maintained on the books of the depository bank's safekeeping department.
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Investments purchased for the Houston Independent School District Public Facility Corporation (PFC) are
purchased in the name of the PFC and held by the trustee, Bank of New York Mellon, as stipulated in related
bond documents.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The investment portfolio is diversified to eliminate the risk of loss resulting from
over concentration of assets in a specific maturity, a specific issue, or a specific class of securities. Within the
cash flow requirement constraints, investment maturities are staggered in a way that avoids undue concentration
of assets in a specific maturity sector.

As of June 30, 2013 no single investment security (FFCB, FHLB, or U.S. Treasury) comprised more than 3.1% of
the total investment portfolio.

The maximum asset mix approved by the investment policy is as follows:

District Issuer
Type Limit Limit

Money Market Accounts 7% 7%
Certificates of Deposit 50% 10%
U.S. Government Securities 100% 100%
U.S. Agency Securities 80% 40%
Municipal Securities 20% 5%
Repurchase Agreements 8% 8%
Investment Pools* 100% 40%
Money Market Mutual Funds 15% 5%
Mutual Funds 15% 5%
Corporate Bonds 15% 5%
Commercial Paper 30% 5%

*The District does not invest its portfolio in any single investment pool. Funds are subdivided between various pools
for diversification and security reasons. Investments in any pool will be limited to 25% of the average Net Asset Value

of that pool.

The District is prohibited from investing in the following types of investments:

a.

b.

c
d

e.

obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the outstanding principal balance of the
underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal;

obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-
backed security collateral and bears no interest;

collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity date of greater than 10 years;
collateralized mortgage obligations whose interest rate is determined by an index that adjusts opposite to
the changes in a market index; and

banker’s acceptances.

The District neither enters into reverse repurchase agreements nor trades in options or future contracts.
Additionally, the District does not participate in any Securities Lending Program.
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As of June 30, 2013, the following was the composition of the District’s investment portfolio:

Lone Star Investment Pool 29.33%
TexPool 27.13%
U.S. Agency Securities 23.43%
TexSTAR 17.25%
U.S. Treasury Bonds 2.82%
Certificates of Deposit 0.04%

Total 100.00%

Foreign Currency Risk

The District does not engage in any deposit or investment transactions involving foreign currency.

NOTE 4: PROPERTY TAXES AND STATE AID REVENUE

Property Taxes

The appraisal of property within the District is the responsibility of the Harris County Appraisal District ("Appraisal
District"). The District's property taxes are levied annually in October on the basis of the Appraisal District's
assessed values of property as of January 1 of that calendar year and are due by January 31 of the next
calendar year. Such taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which they are levied and become delinquent with
an enforceable lien on property after January 31 of the subsequent calendar year. Delinquent taxes receivable
on the government-wide statement of net assets and the governmental fund balance sheet is net of estimated
uncollectible taxes.

The District is permitted to levy taxes up to $1.70 per $100 of assessed valuation for general governmental
services and for the payment of principal and interest on general obligation long-term debt. For the current fiscal
year, the Board of Education set a tax rate of $1.1567 per $100 of assessed valuation. The maintenance and
debt service portions of such rate are $1.0067 and $0.15, respectively. The 2012 assessed valuation was
$111,568,771,772 which resulted in a gross tax levy of $1,290,515,983 for the current fiscal year. The 2012 net
tax levy of $1,257,650,819 reflects an adjustment of $32,865,164 of frozen homestead exemptions for taxpayers
65 years and older as mandated by state property tax laws.

Property taxes which are measurable (quantifiable) and available (collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to finance expenditures of the current period, which the District has estimated to be collected
in the two months after the fiscal year end) are recognized as revenue in the year of levy in the governmental
fund financial statements. Property taxes, which are measurable but not available, are recorded net of estimated
uncollectible amounts, as deferred revenues in the year of the levy in the governmental financial statements.
Such deferred revenues are recognized in the fund financial statements as revenue in the fiscal year in which
they become available. In the government-wide financial statements, property taxes are recognized as revenues
in the year for which the taxes are levied. Uncollectible property taxes in the current period increased the
allowance for uncollectible property taxes in the government-wide and fund financial statements by $4,708,884.
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Delinquent taxes receivable and the related allowance for uncollectible taxes in the governmental fund financial
statements as of June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Delinquent Taxes Allowance for Delinquent Taxes

Receivables, Gross Uncollectible Taxes Receivable, Net
General Fund $ 103,065,074 $ 70,439,563 $ 32,625,511
Debt Service Fund 12,843,117 9,380,850 3,462,267
Total $ 115,908,191 $ 79,820,413 $ 36,087,778

State Aid Revenue

The Texas Education Agency, through its application of state law, allocates state revenues to school districts by
formula allocation. The District receives two allocations—a per capita allocation and a foundation program
allocation. The District also recognizes revenues for the state’s share of the contributions to the Teacher
Retirement System of Texas (TRS). See Note 11 for additional information on the employee’s retirement plan.
Other state revenues are received through other state miscellaneous programs on an allocated basis. The
components of state aid as shown in the governmental fund financial statements are as follows:

Revenues Amount

Per Capita Revenues $ 85,664,101
Foundation Fund Revenues 175,860,327
Other Foundation 20,000
Other State 18,955,917
TRS on Behalf 60,285,800
Shared Services Arrangement 2,333,454

Total State Aid $ 343,119,599

As of June 30, 2013, the District also received state matching funds of $572,680 in the Food Service Fund.
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NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES

Receivables as of June 30, 2013 for the District’s individual major funds and nonmajor
internal service funds in the aggregate are as follows:

enterprise funds and

Special Debt Food Nonmajor
General Revenue Service Service and Other
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Due from the State of Texas $ 31,886,457 % 31,124,580 $ 2,339,282 $  2,445827 $ - $ 67,796,155
Due from the Federal government 154,034 2,342,590 - - - 2,496,624
Due from Other Funding Agencies - 2,245,618 - - 21,031,589 23,277,207
Other 2,567,766 3,018,821 17,050 755,250 509,462 6,868,349
Gross Receivables 34,608,257 38,731,618 2,356,332 3,201,077 21,541,051 100,438,335
Less Allowance for Uncollectibles - - - - - -
Total Net Receivables $ 34,608,257 % 38,731,618 $ 2,356,332 § 3,201,077 $ 21,541,051 $§ 100,438,335

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered
to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. At June 30, 2013, the various components of deferred

and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds are as follows:

Deferred property taxes, General Fund $ 23,899,352
Deferred property taxes, Debt Service Fund 2,698,050
Deferred restitution, General fund 1,602,989
Grant advances (unearned), Special Revenue Fund 5,723,409
Total Deferred & Unearned Revenues $ 33,923,800

Payables as of June 30, 2013 for the District’s individual major funds and nonmajor enterprise funds and internal

service funds in the aggregate are as follows:

Special Capital Food Nonmajor
General Revenue Renovatin Service and Other
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Vendors Payable $ 25787,741% 10,176,057 $ 16,008,040 $ 2,730,017 $ 5,239,508 $ 59,941,363
Retainage Payable 20,679 - 11,059,357 6,496 640,836 11,727,368
Other 47 - - - - 47
Total Payables $ 25,808,467 $ 10,176,057 $ 27,067,397 $ 2,736,513 $ 5,880,344 $ 71,668,778
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NOTE 6: CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of capital asset activity during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 follows:

Balance Balance

Governmental activities: July 1, 2012 Increases Decreases June 30, 2013

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 214,416,697 $ 1,996,532 $ (217,997) $ 216,195,232
Construction in progress 357,037,862 218,490,620 (304,500,542) 271,027,940
Total capital assets not being depreciated 571,454,559 220,487,152 (304,718,539) 487,223,172

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 3,135,430,424 304,500,541 (2,597,340) 3,437,333,625
Furniture and equipment 327,083,133 45,581,367 (15,708,013) 356,956,487
Vehicles 106,825,013 10,948,972 (5,791,944) 111,982,041
Total capital assets being depreciated 3,569,338,570 361,030,880 (24,097,297) 3,906,272,153

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements 978,449,979 74,593,975 (1,217,804) 1,051,826,150
Furniture and equipment 281,848,534 17,920,932 (15,567,376) 284,202,090
Vehicles 74,384,259 6,763,358 (5,784,491) 75,363,126
Total accumulated depreciation 1,334,682,772 99,278,265 (22,569,671) 1,411,391,366
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 2,806,110,357 $ 482,239,767 $ (306,246,165) $ 2,982,103,959

Business-type activities:

Capital assets being depreciated:

Furniture and equipment $ 9,388,345 $ 352,001 $ (690,015) $ 9,050,331
Vehicles 1,737,728 328,532 (72,690) 1,993,570
Total capital assets being depreciated 11,126,073 680,533 (762,705) 11,043,901

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Furniture and equipment 9,001,398 125,521 (690,015) 8,436,904
Vehicles 1,737,728 28,685 (72,690) 1,693,723
Total accumulated depreciation 10,739,126 154,206 (762,705) 10,130,627
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 386,947 $ 526,327 $ 0 $ 913,274

Internal Service Fund capital assets are included in the Governmental activities table above. Additionally, the
Business-type activities table includes the Food Service Fund and the $197,853 net capital assets of the
nonmajor Medicaid Fund.
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental activities:

Instruction $ 84,034,233
Instructional resources and media services 86,413
Curriculum development 1,099,035
Instructional leadership 967,096
School leadership 26,448
Guidance, counseling and evaluation services 15,163
Student transportation 4,727,907
Food service 1,279,656
Co-curricular/extracurricular activities 68,819
General administration 172,086
Plant maintenance and operations 1,753,310
Security and monitoring services 180,668
Data processing services 4,867,431

Total depreciation expense, governmental activities $ 99,278,265

Business-type activities:

Food service $ 122,251
Other nonmajor business-type activities 31,955
Total depreciation expense, business-type activities $ 154,206

Construction Commitments

The District has active construction projects as of June 30, 2013. These projects include new school
construction, expansion, and renovation of existing schools, safety and security projects, non-school facilities,
and other projects. At June 30, 2013, the District had fully funded commitments for the following categories:

Remaining

Project Spent-To-Date Commitment

New schools $ 41,678,432 §$ 11,871,800
Expanded schools 5,516,773 3,420,488
Renovated schools 128,006,366 70,987,401
Non-school facilities 164,342 71,027
Safety & Security projects 3,924,106 1,310,785
Early colleges 78,806 1,336,178
Other projects 25,993,994 62,700,477
Total $ 205,362,819 $ 151,698,156
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NOTE 7: INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

The composition of interfund balances in the fund financial statements as of June 30, 2013 was as follows.

GENERAL FUND Capital Renovation Fund $ (422,262)
Debt Service Fund (391,507)
Special Revenue Fund 5,168,013
Food Service Fund 352,384
Other Enterprise Funds 40,039,247
Internal Service Funds (5,554,806)
DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS $ 39,191,069
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND General Fund $ (5,168,013)
Capital Renovation Fund (2,083)
Food Service Fund 18,358
Other Enterprise Funds (4,205)
Internal Service Funds (90,315)
DUE TO OTHER FUNDS $ (5,246,258)
DEBT SERVICE FUND General Fund $ 391,507
Other Enterprises Funds (599)
Internal Service Funds 627
DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS $ 391,535
CAPITAL RENOVATION FUND General Fund $ 422,262
Capital Renovation Fund-PFC 231,649
Special Revenue Fund 2,083
Internal Service Funds 223
DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS $ 655,771
CAPITAL RENOVATION FUND-PFC Capital Renovation Fund $ (231,649)
DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS $ (231,649)
FOOD SERVICE FUND General Fund $ (352,384)
Special Revenue Fund (18,358)
Other Enterprises Funds (6,543)
Internal Service Funds 835
DUE TO OTHER FUNDS $ (376,450)
OTHER ENTERPRISE FUNDS General Fund $ (40,039,247)
Debt Service Fund 599
Special Revenue Fund 4,205
Food Service Fund 6,543
Internal Service Funds (3,599)
DUE TO OTHER FUNDS $ (40,031,499)
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS General Fund $ 5,554,806
Capital Renovation Fund 223
Debt Service Fund (627)
Special Revenue Fund 90,315
Food Service Fund (835)
Other Enterprises Funds 3,599
DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS $ 5,647,481

These balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments from
funding agencies are received. The primary interfund transactions included amounts due from the Nonmajor
Enterprises fund to the General Fund for use of unrestricted revenues.

The following is a summary of the District’s transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013:

$ 53,712,830 From the General Fund to the Debt Service Fund for interest and principal debt payments

1,095,764 From the Public Facility Corp. to the Debt Service Fund for interest and principal debt payments

15,529,314 | From the General Fund to the Capital Renovation Fund to fund the “Pay as you go” initiative and
other board authorized projects

12,038,544 | From the Capital Renovation Fund to the Debt Service Fund for TIRZ High School payments

39,960,550 From Nonmajor Enterprise Funds to the General Fund for use of unrestricted revenues

$122,337,002

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund that
statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in
the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations, and (4) use unrestricted revenues collected in an internal service fund to finance activities in another
internal service fund.
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NOTE 8: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The following is a summary of the District’s long-term liabilities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013:

Balance Balance Within
Governmental activities: July 1, 2012 Increases Decreases June 30, 2013 One year
Bonds payable $ 2,209,900,010 $ 449,675,000 $ 242,571,800 $ 2,417,003,210 $ 75,155,415
Contractual obligations 74,975,000 - 22,620,000 52,355,000 21,335,000
Notes payable 60,540,000 - 5,055,000 55,485,000 5,125,000
Total debt payable - principal 2,345,415,010 449,675,000 270,246,800 2,524,843,210 101,615,415
Premium/discount 38,052,425 50,189,281 15,095,015 73,146,691 17,075,254
Deferred loss on refunding of bonds (4,528,574) (12,446,203) (837,292) (16,137,485) (1,366,329)
Accretion on capital appreciation bonds 132,390,323 8,963,662 27,088,200 114,265,785 39,697,100
Total amortizations and accretions 165,914,174 46,706,740 41,345,923 171,274,991 55,406,025
Total debt payable 2,511,329,184 496,381,740 311,592,723 2,696,118,201 157,021,440
Capital leases payable 28,268 66,979 28,569 66,678 32,822
Compensated absences payable 27,280,550 4,689,018 3,074,900 28,894,668 3,545,788
Claims payable 23,890,772 95,345,663 99,348,766 19,887,669 14,817,712
Total other long-term liabilities payable 51,199,590 100,101,660 102,452,235 48,849,015 18,396,322

Total governmental activities
long-term liabilities $

Business-type activities:

2,562,528,774

596,483,400 $

414,044,958 $

2,744,967,216

$ 175,417,762

Compensated absences payable $ 441,255 253,920 $ 330,115 $ 365,060 $ 138,080
Total business-type activities
long-term liabilities $ 441,255 253,920 $ 330,115 $ 365,060 $ 138,080

Internal Service Funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, long-term liabilities for them
are included as part of the above totals for governmental activities. At year end, $408,525 of Internal Service
Funds’ compensated absences payable and $19,887,669 of claims payable is included in the above
governmental activities amounts. For the governmental activities, claims and judgments, and compensated
absences are generally liquidated by the General Fund. The above business-ty<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>